
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Thursday, 14 November 2019 
at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Management Framework: 2019-23 (Pages 9 - 26)

To present Members of the Performance and Administration Committee 
with a copy of the draft Corporate Performance Management Framework 
2019-23 for review.



6. Change Strategy 2019-2023 (Pages 27 - 42)

To present the draft Change Strategy for Gravesham Borough Council to 
Members of the Performance & Administration Committee for review prior 
to submitting the final report to Cabinet for approval.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Narinder Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurjit Kaur Bains
Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Peter Scollard
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 24 September 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Narinder Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurjit Kaur Bains
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Leslie Pearton
Tony Rana
Peter Scollard
Gurbax Singh

Mike Bytheway Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) 
Pat Knight Revenues and Benefits Manager
James Larkin Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Scrutiny)

53. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Harold Craske and Cllr Sarah Gow; Cllr 
Leslie Pearton and Cllr Tony Rana attended as their respective substitutes.

54. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2019 were signed by the Chair.

55. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

56. Annual review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) began by explaining that this would be his last 
meeting at the Council and introduced the new Revenues and Benefits Manager, Pat Knight 
to the Committee. 

The Committee thanked the Service Manager Revenues & Benefits for all his good work 
during his time at the Council and welcomed the new Revenues and Benefits Manager.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 24.09.2019

2

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) provided 
Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with a copy of the annual review 
that has been conducted in respect of the Audit & Counter Fraud shared service with 
Medway Council.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
highlighted the following:

 There have been significant sickness levels in this department over the last 2 years 
and as a result the counter fraud activity has not noticeably increased

 Reduction in timescales for audit reviews wasn’t achieved because there has been a 
focus on the quality of work and ensuring accuracy, rather than quantity.

 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service continues to deliver savings across both 
authorities.

 The feedback from officers involved in the shared service is, on the whole, positive.
 The key areas of focus for the coming year for both authorities have been identified 

as follows:
- Ensure delivery of the audit & Counter Fraud work plans for 2019-20.
- Create a period of stability within the service.
- Look for training opportunities to achieve ambition for multi-disciplinary officers.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) fielded 
questions from the Committee and highlighted the following:

 The feedback was collected by emailing all officers a questionnaire, then collating 
and discussing the results with the team.

 The Council no longer investigates Housing Benefit Fraud; the Department for Work 
and Pensions deals with this area.

 Outturn for last year:  
- Identified historic liability of £9,899 in terms of Council Tax
- Additional £3,891 bill for future years.
- 5 Council properties were recovered from people who weren’t using them as they 

were supposed to.
- Prevented a fraudulent right to buy and prevented a loss of £80,900

 Performance this year to date has vastly improved:
- Identified historic liability of £106,609 in terms of Council Tax
- Bill for future years: additional £51,586
- 4 Council properties recovered since April.
- Prevented another fraudulent right to buy which has prevented a loss of £82,800

The Committee congratulated the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive) and his team for a good performance.

The Committee noted the report. 

57. Audit & Counter Fraud Satisfaction Survey 2018-19 

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
informed Members of the results of a survey aimed at identifying the level of satisfaction

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 24.09.2019

3

with the services provided by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
highlighted the following:

 The results of the survey indicate that clients are largely satisfied with the services 
received from Audit & Counter Fraud, with eight of the 11 respondents saying they 
were very satisfied or satisfied with the overall service; the remaining three gave a 
neutral response.

 The key positives drawn from the survey are that the majority of respondents are 
happy with the current balance of the type of audit reviews undertaken and also with 
the balance of the depth of the scope based on the number of days available for 
each review. The majority also indicated that they are happy with the current format 
of reports and volume of information they contain. In addition, almost all respondents 
stated that they understand the role of the service and know how the team can be 
contacted.

 Areas for improvement have also been identified, the main one relating to 
communication with the wider organisation to provide a better understanding of the 
role of the service and how it supports the council in reaching its objectives and also 
in relation to the preparation of the annual Audit & Counter Fraud Plan. Accuracy of 
reports and the value of recommendations were also identified as areas that clients 
felt could be improved and while steps have already been taken to address this, 
further improvements will be sought.

 The Satisfaction Survey will be sent out again next year but will not be anonymous 
this time so further discussions / clarification of answers can take place in order to 
get the full picture to enable the improvement of the service. 

The Committee noted the results of the Audit & Counter Fraud satisfaction survey 2018-19.

58. Revenues & Benefits Update 

The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) provided the following update to the 
Committee:

Performance and Workload of the Benefits Service

The average number of days to assess new benefit claims is now 14.8 and therefore under 
the target of 20 days. 

HB claims are processed in 13.1 days and CTR claims in 15.6 days

The average number of days to assess changes in circumstances is 4.4 days and therefore 
under the target of 5 days. 

HB changes in circumstances are processed in 5.1 days and CTR changes in circumstances 
in 3.9 days

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP)

The DHP Fund for 2019/20 is £221,412 and as at 31 August 2019 £95,396 had been 
allocated to support residents within the borough.

Page 5



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 24.09.2019

4

233 applications have been received with 114 being successful.

16 cases have involved helping customers with the spare room subsidy restriction and 23 
with the Local Housing Allowance restrictions.

Universal Credit (UC)

In May 2018, the Universal Credit (UC) full service was rolled out across the Borough. It is 
now in operation throughout the whole of England and as a result the Housing Benefit total 
caseload (i.e. the total number of claimants within the Borough) has reduced from 6,551 at 1 
April 2018 to 5,016 at 1 September 2019; a reduction of 23.4%.

437 Housing Benefit cases were cancelled in 2018/19 as those claimants either moved onto 
Universal Credit or experienced a change in circumstances that means that they are no 
longer eligible to claim Housing Benefit.

153 Housing Benefit cases have been cancelled in 2019/20

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) can be awarded to top up and assist residents 
receiving UC providing the award includes an element for housing costs. In 2019/20 79 UC 
cases have received a DHP.

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS), which replaced council tax benefit from 1 April 
2013, has been uprated and aligned with national benefit rates each year in accordance with 
prescribed requirements from Government and in line with benefit rates and allowances 
provided in the annual uprating circular published by the DWP.

The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) 2019/20 will be based on the 2018/19 scheme 
with amendments for prescribed requirements and uprating this is available to view on our 
website at: 

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-tax-reduction/council-tax-reduction-
scheme 

In addition to the above amendments, to simplify claiming and administration of CTRS, the 
scheme has been amended to allow a claim for UC to be treated as the intention to claim 
council tax reduction from the date of the UC claim. That information can be obtained via the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) Data Hub. A claim made in this way would of 
course be subject to all other rules around entitlement as a claim made directly to the 
Council

The CTRS caseload has reduced from 7,317 at 1 April 2018 to 6,857 as at 1 September 
2019. 

Page 6

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-tax-reduction/council-tax-reduction-scheme
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/council-tax-reduction/council-tax-reduction-scheme


Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 24.09.2019

5

Collection of council tax and business rates

As at the end of August the collection rate for Council Tax is 47.51% the target is 97%.  This 
compares to a collection rate of 47.50% at the same point in the year twelve months ago 
which resulted in a year end collection rate of 96.87%

As at the end of August the collection rate for Business Rates is 47.37% the target is 99%.  
This compares to a collection rate of 47.06% at the same point in the year twelve months 
ago which resulted in a year end collection rate of 99.11% 

Citizens Access Council Tax

Citizens Access Council Tax is live as a view only solution that will allow customers to view 
the council tax account balance, instalments due and payments made, view council tax bills 
for current and previous years and view any discounts or exemptions including Council Tax 
Reduction.

It has been launched without too much publicity to allow us time to test and ensure the 
product works as expected in a ‘live’ environment.

However there is still the remaining functionality of Citizens Access Council Tax to 
implement as well as Citizens Access Business Rates and Citizens Access Benefits.

In time, it is fully anticipated that the digital solution will generate savings in paper and 
postage as well as resourcing efficiencies within the team.

The Service Manager, Revenues & Benefits fielded questions from the Committee and 
highlighted the following:

 Since the introduction of Universal Credit; the Council doesn’t get as many housing 
benefit claimants which makes administration easier but overall the system is not 
easier for the claimants with waiting times for housing support reported to be up to 5 
weeks.

 The Council has seen a rise in Discretionary Housing Payments claimants since the 
introduction of Universal Credit. 

 The Discretionary Housing Payment fund is given to the Council by the Department 
for Work and Pensions and has reduced been reduced by £50,000 since last year.

 The criteria for Discretionary Housing Payment is based on income and further 
details on why the individual is suffering hardship. The Council looks at each claim on 
its own merits and follows good guidance.

 The Service Manager, Revenues & Benefits agreed that the Council needs ensure 
that its services are fully accessible to all people.

 The Citizens Access Council Tax is a good online solution that embraces the digital 
age. Paper options will always be available for those that need them but the Council 
will be encouraging as many people as possible to go for the digital solution. Further 
functions will be added to the system in the near future and there is also the potential 
for an App.

Page 7



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 24.09.2019

6

The Committee noted the Revenues & Benefits Update.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.11 pm

Page 8



Corporate Performance Management Framework 2019-23: P&A Committee (14 November 2019)

Classification:  Part 1 – Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee

Date: 14 November 2019

Reporting officer: Corporate Performance Manager

Subject: Corporate Performance Management Framework: 2019-23

Purpose and summary of report: 

To present Members of the Performance and Administration Committee with a copy of the 
draft Corporate Performance Management Framework 2019-23 for review. 

Recommendations:

Members are requested to: 

1. Consider the draft Corporate Performance Management Framework 2019-23 (Appendix 
    Two), as endorsed by the council’s Management Team. 

2. Subject to amendments proposed by the committee, formal approval of the framework is to 
    be taken by the Cabinet Member for Performance and Administration.

1. Background

1.1 The Corporate Plan presents the council’s ambition for the borough over a four-year 
period and was adopted by Full Council in October 2019. Alongside a suite of 
corporate objectives and associated policy commitments, the Corporate Plan sets the 
tone and guiding principles from which all council activity will be based over the 
2019-23 period. 

1.2 To evaluate if we are effectively achieving against our stated objectives, and 
delivering consistently high quality services for local residents, the plan established a 
commitment to sound performance management arrangements to be delivered by a 
formal corporate Performance Management Framework (PMF). 

1.3 The aim of presenting this document is to therefore clearly explain the framework so 
that Councillors, managers, officers, partners and local residents can easily 
understand the arrangements and processes the council has in place to effectively 
manage the performance of its services. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



Corporate Performance Management Framework 2019-23: P&A Committee (14 November 2019)

2. Performance Management Framework

2.1 The purpose of a corporate PMF is to underpin how we use information, data and 
business intelligence in order to make informed decisions, drive continuous service 
improvement and to ensure a consistent and robust approach to performance 
management throughout the organisation as we work towards our ambition of; 
Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 

2.2 Specifically, as a key part of the council’s broader corporate governance framework, 
the PMF directly underpins the delivery of our corporate objectives and associated 
policy commitments.

2.3 At its core, the PMF formally presents:

 Responsibility: the roles and activities involved in the effective management 
of performance in the council.

 Monitoring: for the first time, a formal performance reporting regime that 
incorporates all levels of corporate performance data. 

 Indicators: as the upper tier of performance material, a suite of corporate 
performance indicators and how they are directly assigned to specific policy 
commitments established through the adopted Corporate Plan. 

 Quality: governance controls providing assurance that reported performance 
content is accurate, enabling the council to make informed evidence based 
policy decisions. 

2.4 Specifically for Members, the PMF will form the basis of corporate performance 
reporting during the 2019-23 period. As determined by the Leader of the Executive, 
this will primarily be delivered through a commitment to a quarterly performance 
reporting process to Cabinet and portfolio-based Cabinet Committees.

2.5 The draft PMF was considered and endorsed by the Corporate Management Team 
at its meeting of 29 October 2019.

3. Next steps

3.1 The Performance and Administration Portfolio has responsibility for the effective 
governance of the council’s performance management arrangements. 

3.2 Pending any final comments received through the Performance and Administration 
Committee, it is therefore recommended that the PMF is approved by the Cabinet 
Member for Performance and Administration in order for the framework to be formally 
implemented. 

4. Background Papers

Corporate Plan 2019-23

Page 10

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan


Corporate Performance Management Framework 2019-23: P&A Committee (14 November 2019)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy 
framework as defined by the Constitution. Although not a statutory requirement, 
the establishment of an effective PMF is a core governance tool, enabling the 
council to evidence achievement of its stated corporate objectives, policy 
commitments and statutory responsibilities.

Finance and 
Value for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the development of the council’s 
PMF. 

Risk 
Assessment

It is vital that the council formally sets out its relevant performance management 
arrangements over the coming years, in order to clearly demonstrate how 
successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and, for residents, to 
provide genuine accountability in how successfully the council is administering its 
resources.  

Failure to put in place an effective PMF could result in a lack of transparency and 
accountability to decision making, and a lack of informed consideration of service 
planning. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence 
data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor 
or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Corporate Performance Management Framework 2019-23: P&A Committee (14 November 2019)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 
Equality Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in 
the community?
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality?
The PMF includes the transparent monitoring of gender pay within the 
council, emphasising a commitment to the equalities agenda. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate Plan The draft PMF is a key tool in the delivery of the council’s Corporate Plan. The 
purpose of the PMF is to underpin how we use information, data and business 
intelligence in order to make informed decisions towards the achievement of our 
adopted corporate objectives and overall vision for the borough.

Crime and 
Disorder

In view of the council’s statutory duties, community safety as an agenda is an 
integral theme of the draft Corporate Plan. Work by the council in this area, 
alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate objective 
#1: People and the related policy commitment Create stronger neighbourhoods. 

The PMF monitors:
PI 1: Total number of reported crime offences

PI 2: Total number of reported ASB incidents.

Digital and 
website 
implications

On its adoption, the PMF will be published and promoted via the council’s 
corporate performance webpage. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

See ‘crime and disorder’. 

The PMF also involves safeguarding as an agenda in regards to housing of 
vulnerable residents:

PI 19: % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

PI 20: Total number of households in temporary accommodation.

Page 12



DELIVERING A GRAVESHAM TO BE PROUD OFDelivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Corporate Performance Management Framework 
2 0 1 9 - 2 3

P
age 13



Contents 

1: Introduction 

2: Definition 

3: Drivers 

4: Method 

5: Responsibility 

6: Monitoring 

7: Indicators 

8: Quality 

9: Review 

Appendix 1    

1: Introduction

Managing performance is part of everyday effective working practices, 
and is integral to all that we do as a local authority. 

The purpose of this corporate performance management framework (PMF) 
is to underpin how we use information, data and business intelligence in 
order to make informed decisions, drive continuous service improvement 
and to ensure a consistent and robust approach to performance 
management throughout the organisation as we work towards our 
ambition for the borough of; Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 

The aim of this document is to clearly explain the framework so  
that Councillors, managers, officers, partners and local residents can 
easily understand the arrangements and processes the council has in 
place to manage the performance of its services. 

Specifically, as a key part of the council’s broader corporate governance 
framework, the PMF underpins the delivery of our corporate objectives  
and associated policy commitments. 

Page 1 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 14



2: Definition 

Management of performance is at the heart of service delivery – it 
is what drives service improvement.  

Where it is effective decisions are made in an open and informed way, 
acted upon and reviewed to drive continuous improvement and 
opportunities for future learning. Where key elements of performance 
management are weak, or not in place, the basis for decision making is 
often unclear, ineffectively communicated and cannot be readily  
assessed by Councillors, officers and, importantly, residents. 

As an integral part of our ‘golden thread’, through a clear and  
accountable corporate PMF the council will ensure its goals and  
objectives are being consistently met at all levels. This PMF therefore 
establishes a systematic monitoring and evaluation of service practice, 
policies and working procedures. In doing so, the PMF provides enables 
early insight of any operational issues allowing priorities to be adjusted 
and resources reassigned to ensure corporate objectives are met. 

Specifically this document therefore establishes the roles, responsibilities 
and monitoring regime involved in the management of corporate 
performance and is established via Corporate Objective #3: Progress; 

“Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and 
benchmarked performance management framework, delivered by 
services underpinned with sound internal controls.” 

3: Drivers 

There are a variety of drivers that present the need for a robust and 
comprehensive PMF that informs evidence based policy decision making 
and, crucially, evidences the impact of council services in tackling local 
community needs. Key drivers for an effective PMF include: 

National and regional: 

• Government legislative programme
• National statutory returns e.g. single data list
• Government funding of local authorities
• External audit review
• Integrated working through corporate partnerships
• South East Local Enterprise Partnership
• Comparative ‘nearest neighbour’ performance benchmarking
• LGA Peer Challenge and other sector led improvement

Local drivers: 

• Corporate Plan
• Constitution
• Code of Corporate Governance
• Medium Term Financial Strategy
• Change Strategy
• Community engagement
• Community Profile

Page 2 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/single-data-list


4: Method 

In order to successfully deliver on our ambition for the borough, we have 
implemented a ‘Golden Thread’; a continuous cycle connecting the 
corporate aims, policy framework and delivery plans of the council, with 
the actions of Members, officers and partners at all levels.  

To be successful, it is vital that all corporate policies, strategies and 
business plans are fully informed, designed and resourced to support the 
delivery of our corporate objectives. This PMF forms an essential part of 
the jigsaw, providing the tools and working practices to inform strategic 
decision making and, importantly, to ensure everyone is aware of, and 
responsible for delivering, expected levels of performance. The PMF 
underpins the following corporate documents:  

Corporate Plan: presents the council’s ambition for the borough and a 
suite of corporate objectives with which to guide council activity against 
which this PMF is established.  

Other corporate policies and strategies: detail how resources will be 
used to deliver services and meet the council’s corporate objectives. Key 
priorities of each service are considered annually as part of the budget 
setting process. 

Service Business Plans: present a core programme of work for  
services directly linked to the delivery of corporate objectives. In doing 
so, business plans also establish appropriate financial budgeting and 
performance monitoring and review processes with service officers. 

Council officer appraisals: officers are responsible for their own 
performance in achieving targets directly linked to corporate objectives. 
Personal milestones are established in the annual appraisal process  
and continuously reviewed in-year, complemented by effective training. 

Page 3 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 16



5: Responsibility 
As established within the council’s Golden Thread, everyone has a responsibility in the delivery of the council’s ambition for the borough and, therefore, 
everyone has a stake in the effective management of performance within the authority.  

Council  Members are ultimately accountable to the electorate and all community stakeholders for the overall performance of council services. 

Cabinet 

 Establish the council’s ambition, corporate objectives and associated policy commitments, as set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-23.  
 Cabinet actively works with and holds officers to account in the successful delivery of the Corporate Plan. Each Cabinet Member has 
 a portfolio of services and activities for which they take responsibility. This detail is set out in the council’s constitution. Cabinet  
 Members are actively involved in reviewing performance in relation to their portfolio; chairing Cabinet committees that receive   
 quarterly performance PMF reports, including quantitative and qualitative PMF material. Specifically, the Cabinet Member for  
 Performance and Administration has responsibility for the council’s performance management arrangements. 

Corporate 
Management Team 

 Corporate Management Team (CMT) advise members regarding the setting of the council’s ambition and corporate priorities.  
 Providing strategic oversight of the performance management framework and its relevant governance and application, CMT reviews 
 operational progress identifying relevant areas for improvement and establishing appropriate intervention. CMT also has   
 responsibility for promoting the integration of performance management into the culture of the council and for ensuring that  
 performance information is appropriately used in decision making and is ‘fit for purpose’. 

Managers 

 For the purposes of this PMF, Service Managers are responsible for the overall operational performance of their service and for the  
 contribution that their service makes to the objectives established through the Corporate Plan. They are responsible for contributing  
 to the integration of performance management into their area and for ensuring the quality of all performance material collected and  
 reported within their areas of responsibility. Where performance is below acceptable levels, Service Managers are held accountable to 
 Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team and will develop appropriate plans for target intervention.   

 On a managerial basis, managers are responsible for the two-way communication of corporate initiatives and performance issues.  
 Managers are responsible for ensuring their staff have regular appraisals and review the training and skills needed to carry out  
 roles effectively. They should also ensure that staff have access to, and are familiar with, corporate and departmental procedures on 
 performance management.  

Page 4 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 17



Corporate 
Performance Team 

 Leading the development and ongoing awareness of the council’s Corporate Plan and associated objectives, the team establishes 
 the council’s approach to corporate performance management. The team provides support and guidance to the Cabinet and  
 Corporate Management Team in delivering the performance management framework including elements such as; the creation,  
 collection and calculation of performance indicators, monitoring of achievement against corporate priorities, peer benchmarking,  
 service planning, performance publications and associated policy and performance research.  

 The team also produces the Annual Governance Statement on behalf of the Leader and Chief Executive, which is approved by the 
 Finance and Audit Committee, with this PMF acting as a core tool of the council’s corporate governance environment. 

Internal Audit 

Internal Audit regularly analyse performance data held and used by departments through their annual audit review programme. 
These reviews may present concerns or risk associated with performance material resulting in spot checks of data quality. The 
team’s work helps to ensure that robust procedures are in place to effectively collect performance data.  

In addition alongside the Corporate Performance Team, Internal Audit conduct an annual review of reported performance as 
required at year-end. These checks are selected based upon a risk-based process using the methodology presented at Appendix 1. 

Officers 

 All council offices have a responsibility to manage their own performance. Each member of staff will be set specific personal targets  
 through an annual appraisal process as part of the council’s Workforce Development Plan. As well as identifying actions and targets 
 for the current year, relevant training and personal development needs are identified through the appraisal process. Formal   
 procedures exist to address continual and serious cases of under-performance.  

Local residents / 
businesses / media 

 All local stakeholders hold the council accountable for its levels of service performance as presented through this PMF. The council 
 develops a Corporate Plan based upon community needs and expectations for frontline services. The publication of council  
 performance materials enables relevant scrutiny on council achievement against its policy commitments. 

Page 5 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 18



6: Monitoring 
A comprehensive and robust Performance Management Framework (PMF) is essential to any successful organisation. Our adopted PMF allows us to 
critically evaluate progress against our stated objectives, provides industry intelligence that can drive service transformation and, for residents, it delivers 
genuine scrutiny in how successfully the council is administering its resources. Central to the successful delivery of the PMF is a commitment to a transparent 
performance monitoring and reporting process at all levels, both in regards to the authority and the personal development of officers.1  

Report Audience Frequency Detail 

Corporate Performance 

Cabinet 

CMT 

Public 

Quarterly 

Comprehensive reports of all corporate performance indicators are presented to CMT and 
subsequently to Cabinet for consideration and scrutiny. This is supported by tailored contextual 
reports to Cabinet Committees detailing the scale of work delivered by the authority. These 
reports provide access to timely and accurate information about service delivery, supporting 
both executive decision making and intervention to address any barriers to good performance. 
All material is published via the council’s digital platforms and Your Borough publication. 

Annual Performance 

Cabinet 

CMT 

Public 

Annual 

Although not a statutory requirement, the council also reports details of the year-end outturns for 
the Performance Management Framework (PMF) in its audited Annual Performance Report. 
Data here provides an effective position statement for the council and supports the external 
auditor conclusion as to the value for money being delivered by council services towards its 
corporate objectives and frontline services.  

Management Indicator CMT Quarterly 

Management indicators present core operational data regarding the day to day running of 
council services. Acting in support of the performance indicator suite, quarterly reporting 
enables early and effective intervention and redirection of resources to those areas deemed 
underperforming. 

Financial Indicator 
CMT Annual 

To further embed a performance-related culture within the council, the PMF is also analysed 
against other local authorities. This approach enables us to better understand our comparative 
levels of service performance aligned to expenditure and, equally, to identify opportunities for 
improvement in the quality and efficiency of council services.  Corporate Benchmarking 

1 This PMF details corporate performance reporting processes. All related elements to the reporting of officer performance are established via the council’s Workforce Development Plan. 

Page 6 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 19

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report


7: Indicators 
The council recognises the importance of an effective, transparent and intelligence-led performance management culture informed by officers, Members and 
residents. Central to that aim is a comprehensive and robust Performance Management Framework (PMF). Whilst section 6 sets out details of all tiers of 
monitored performance within this PMF, the table below specifically presents details of the adopted corporate performance indicators. These indicators are 
established to act as a direct link towards, and an indicator of, the successful achievement of the three adopted corporate objectives and, ultimately, the 
council’s ambition for the borough; Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 

#1 People 
 

Policy Commitments Indicators Frequency Responsible officer 

Create stronger neighbourhoods 
PI 1 Total number of reported crime offences 

Quarterly Kath Donald 
PI 2 Total number of reported ASB incidents 

Enforce high regulatory standards 

PI 3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents 

Quarterly Mark Lees PI 4 % of broadly compliant food establishments 

PI 5 % of environmental health service requests receiving a first 
response within five working days 

Carbon neutral borough 
PI 6 Total CO2 emissions in the borough 

Annually Dipna Pattni 
PI 7 Total CO2 emissions from council assets 

Improve the local environment 

PI 8 % of household waste recycled 
Quarterly 

Stuart Alford PI 9 Total volume of residual waste per household 

PI 10 % of household waste sent to landfill Annually 

Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods 
and parks, and an attractive town centre 

PI 11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC 
responsibility Quarterly Stuart Alford 

PI 12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering 

Page 7 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 20



Policy Commitments Indicators Frequency Responsible officer 

Actively enforce environmental standards PI 13 Total number of enforcement actions taken Quarterly Kath Donald 

Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme 
of building 

PI 14 Total number of net additional homes delivered 
Annually Wendy Lane 

PI 15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered 

Enforce a high quality of private housing 
PI 16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into 

occupation Annually Wale Adetoro 
PI 17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Provide a proactive, supportive and 
financially efficient housing service PI 18 Average time taken to re-let council housing Quarterly Wale Adetoro 

Safeguard residents 
PI 19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time 

Quarterly Wale Adetoro 
PI 20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation 

Deliver a skilled in-house building 
management team 

PI 21 % of emergency jobs completed on time 
Quarterly Daniel Killian 

PI 22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification 

Put our customers first 

PI 23 Average processing time for Housing Benefit claims 

Quarterly 

Pat Knight 
PI 24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in 

Housing Benefit claims 

PI 25 % satisfaction with Customer Services (Reception) 
Anita Tysoe 

PI 26 Total number of reported corporate complaints 

A sound car parking offer PI 27 % of council car parks awarded Park Mark status Annually Daniel Killian 

Page 8 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 21



#2 Place 
Policy Commitments Indicators Frequency Responsible officer 

Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham 
economy 

PI 28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties 
Quarterly 

Simon Hookway 

PI 29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall Graham Long 

Raise Gravesham’s economic profile 
PI 30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties  

Quarterly Pat Knight 
PI 31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Promote a borough ‘open for business’ PI 32 % net gain in new businesses Annually Simon Hookway 

Improve economic conditions 
PI 33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Quarterly Simon Hookway 
PI 34 % rate of youth unemployment 

Positively promote sustainable development 
PI 35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Quarterly Wendy Lane 
PI 36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Design a quality and affordable leisure offer 
PI 37 Total number of leisure centre attendees 

Annually Adrian Hickmott 
PI 38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees 

Improve resident well-being PI 39 % of council play sites annually inspected Annually Stuart Alford 

Manage a programme of proactive healthy 
living interventions PI 40 Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the 

Gr@nd’s healthy living services Quarterly Liz Read 

Develop a cohesive and resilient community PI 41 Total number of council activities/events delivered by or with the 
voluntary sector Annually Anita Tysoe 

Enhance the borough’s cultural offer 
PI 42 Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville 

Quarterly Anita Tysoe 
PI 43 Average weekly Borough Market footfall 

Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage PI 44 Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites Annually Simon Hookway 

Page 9 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 22



#3 Progress 
Policy Commitments Indicators Frequency Responsible officer 

Develop an entrepreneurial culture 

PI 45 Total rental income from property investments 
Annually 

Sarah Parfitt PI 46 Average yield generated by property investment activity 

PI 47 Total amount secured through contractual social value Quarterly 

A financially innovative council PI 48 % of income from commercial activity in relation to net revenue 
spend Annually Sarah Parfitt 

Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-
effective council PI 49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements Quarterly Michelle Batstone 

Digital innovation 

PI 50 Total number of people signed up to Citizens Access 

Quarterly 
Simon Walsh 

PI 51 Total number of online self-help forms completed 

PI 52 % of workforce IT-enabled for remote working Darren Everden 

An employer of choice 
PI 53 % gender pay gap across council staff 

Annually Laura Lowrey 
PI 54 % of apprentices securing employment by end of apprenticeship 

Drive service improvement and corporate 
governance PI 55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented Quarterly James Larkin 

Successfully manage key business risks 
PI 56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline 

Quarterly 
Gayle Jones 

PI 57 % meeting attendance rate of councillors Simon Walsh 

NOTE: Corporate Plan policy commitments; Build a strong and trusted brand, and Sound financial management are reported against using qualitative information only and have no assigned 
performance indicators. 

Page 10 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 23



8: Quality 

Underpinning this corporate PMF is a commitment to the importance of 
quality; collecting, monitoring and reporting quality performance material  
at all times. To embed this commitment within working processes, the 
council has adopted six key principles, accepted as best working practice: 

• Accurate: outturns should be sufficiently accurate for the intended
purposes, enabling robust decision-making at all levels.

• Valid:  data should be recorded and used in compliance with all
statutory requirements, enabling true analysis to be made over time.

• Reliable: outturns should reflect consistent collection processes,
ensuring progress is ‘real’ rather than due to changes in calculation.

• Timely: outturns should be captured quickly and reported within a
reasonable and relevant period aiding informed decision making.

• Relevant: recorded material should be relevant to the purpose for
which it is used and those it is intended for.

• Complete: data requirements should be clearly specified based on
the information needs of the council and include all services areas.

In working to deliver the highest possible quality of performance material 
to effectively manage services and demonstrate continuous improvement, 
this PMF therefore establishes the following series of practical measures: 

• Awareness: ensure all officers, Members, contractors and partners
involved in the collection, monitoring and reporting of corporate
performance, know the expected standard of performance practice.

• Procedure: alongside Corporate Performance and Internal Audit,
responsible officers will design procedure notes for the collecting,
monitoring and reporting of all corporate performance indicators.
Procedure notes are essential to the robust governance of the PMF.

• Verification: in developing the council’s Annual Performance Report,
at year-end the Corporate Performance Team will carry out a risk-
based verification process involving all corporate performance
indicators (Appendix 1). Indicators assessed as ‘high risk’ will be
passed to the Internal Audit Team for an in-depth review, before the
report is presented to the Corporate Management Team and Cabinet.

• Intervention: in establishing a continuous cycle of development in
performance quality controls, the Corporate Performance Team will
undertake informal in-year interventions. Such interventions will be
reactive to identified risks to performance material or proactively
enable new performance indicators to be adopted into the PMF.

Page 11 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 24



9: Review 

A new PMF will be established as part of the council’s four-year Corporate 
Plan cycle.  This will be reported to the Performance and Administration 
Committee, with approval by the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Performance 
and Administration.

Minor amendments throughout the period will be presented for approval to 
the Corporate Management Team as required. 

Updates of this policy will be circulated to all Members, the Chief 
Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and all other 
reporting officers.  

The PMF will be made available through publication to the council’s 
website. 

Sources 

Corporate Plan  
Corporate Performance  
Constitution 
Code of Corporate Governance  
Medium Term Financial 
Strategy Change Strategy 
Community consultation 
Your Borough Magazine 
Community Profile 

Page 12 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 25

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/have-your-say/consultations
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/news-and-events/your-borough-magazine/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/communityprofile


Appendix 1 

Annual review of corporate performance indicators 

The council reports details of the year-end outturns for the Performance 
Management Framework (PMF) in its Annual Performance Report.  

In developing this the Corporate Performance Team, working alongside 
Internal Audit, undertake an annual review of all reported performance 
material as required at year-end.  

To determine the appropriate level of review, a risk-based approach is 
applied to all corporate performance indicators. Where any of the criteria 
set out below apply to the suite of performance indicators they will 
ultimately be verified by both Corporate Performance and Internal Audit: 

1. Is this a new indicator?

2. Has there been a change in the indicator methodology?

3. Has there been a change in the information systems used?

4. Has a new reporting officer been appointed?

5. Did the last audit identify any areas of concern?

6. Has it been more than three years since last audit verification?

Following verification, sign-off is achieved if the Corporate 
Performance and Internal Audit Teams agree the calculation of the 
reported outturn and are satisfied that the definition, as prescribed 
in the associated procedure note, has been met.   

If the teams do not agree with the outturn, or are not satisfied with 
the evidence provided, in liaison with the Corporate Performance 
Team the reporting officer will be asked to provide further 
evidence or clarification before sign-off is achieved and the outturn 
being presented in the Annual Performance Report. 

Page 13 of 13Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 26



1

Classification: Private
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 14 November 2019

Reporting officer: Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Subject: Change Strategy 2019-2023

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the draft Change Strategy for Gravesham Borough Council to Members of the 
Performance & Administration Committee for review prior to submitting the final report to 
Cabinet for approval.

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to discuss the draft Change Strategy and provide their 

thoughts/comments for consideration prior to the strategy being finalised.

1. Introduction

1.1 In April 2016, the council formally adopted its first Change Strategy as a 
supporting document to the Medium-term Financial Strategy.  The Council 
recognised the need to ensure that it had the necessary support and structures in 
place to implement changes to service delivery, and the Change Strategy was 
developed as the tool to reflect this commitment.

2. Strategy Review

2.1 A review of the previous Change Strategy has been undertaken and updated to 
reflect the following:
2.1.1 The new priorities/objectives set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

(section one of the Strategy). 
2.1.2 Updates to the ‘content’ of the council’s Change Strategy (section two of 

the Strategy) to reflect the current working arrangements and activities of 
the council.

2.1.3 Stronger emphasis on the role of Members in terms of engagement in the 
change processes and activities that are undertaken (section three of the 
Strategy).

Page 27 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 Members of the Performance & Administration Committee are asked to review the 
draft Strategy attached at appendix two to this report and provide any thoughts 
and/or suggestions for consideration prior to the Strategy being presented to 
Cabinet in February 2020.

3. Next Steps

3.1 Following discussion with the Performance & Administration Committee, the 
Change Strategy will be finalised and presented to Cabinet at its meeting on 06 
January 2020 for formal approval.

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

“Medium Term Financial Strategy” – reported to Cabinet 29 March 2016.

“Medium Term Financial Strategy” – reported to Full Council 19 April 2016.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 28



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is no legal requirement for the council to adopt a Change Strategy and as 
such, there are no legal implications arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no finance or value for money implications arising from this report.  The 
Change Strategy is a supporting document for the overall Medium-term Financial 
Strategy.

Risk Assessment There are no risks associated with the Change Strategy.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The Change Strategy supports the delivery of all of the council’s corporate 
objectives.

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

The work of the Digital Team is one of the key workstreams set out within the 
Change Strategy.

Page 29

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adult’s implications arising from 
this report.

Page 30



Change Strategy 2019-2023

DRAFT

Appendix TwoPage 31



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 2 | P a g e

Contents

Page

1 Introduction 3

2 Change Program – Content, Process and People 5

3 Stakeholder Engagement 9

4 Measuring success 10

Page 32



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 3 | P a g e

1. Introduction

1.1 Change is inevitable and is in fact necessary to ensure that the council and its 
services can continue to operate in the landscape of local government, which in itself 
has changed dramatically in recent years and will continue to do so.  

1.2 When drafted in early 2016, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20 
identified that whilst the council was able to draw on its Working Balances to fund its 
annual revenue budget initially, a residual funding gap of £2.5m would emerge in 
2019-20 were the Council to take no action. The Strategy also set out the action to 
be taken by the council to bridge the funding gap.

1.3 The funding gap, and therefore action required by the council, increased by £0.4m to 
£2.9m when setting the budget for 2017-18, primarily driven by the changes to the 
design of the New Homes Bonus Scheme. The funding gap was widened by at least 
a further £1m at budget setting 2018-19 due to the financial impact of low 
housebuilding rates in the borough, the higher than anticipated staff pay award and 
lower than expected interest rates.

1.4 Given the financial pressures that have been placed on councils in recent years, 
there has been a drive for local authorities to consider the way in which they operate 
and provide their services.  Therefore, ensuring the council has a strategic approach 
to identifying and managing change is critical to ensuring service delivery.

1.5 The council has recognised this and in its new Corporate Plan sets out a clear 
corporate objective for the 2019-23 period as follows:

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

1.6 It is therefore critical that the council is using its finite resources in the most effective 
and efficient way, in order to continue to provide good services to the community.  To 
address the challenges this raises, the council is committed to make financial 
efficiencies by reviewing and, where necessary, changing the way it delivers its 
services to the residents and businesses in the borough. There is a need for the 
council to take a strategic view of the council’s finances moving forward taking on the 
difficult balancing act of saving money whilst ensuring sufficient resources are in 
place to carry out council activities.

1.7 The council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a key part of the Council’s 
Budget and Policy Framework and sets out the high-level strategy for how the council 
will ensure revenue resources are directed towards delivery of the Council’s vision 
and priorities.  The Change Strategy is a key supporting document for the over-
arching MTFS.

1.8 To ensure that the council makes these changes in the right way and in fact, makes 
the right changes this strategy intends to set out three key areas of change activity:

1.8.1 Content –how the council will identify what needs to be changed.

1.8.2 Processes –how change will be planned and implemented.

1.8.3 People – how to address the human dynamics of change in terms of 
engagement and commitment to change.

Page 33



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 4 | P a g e

1.9 Change can mean different things to different people; some see change as an 
exciting opportunity whereas others see it as a threat to their position and working 
practices. By taking an open and transparent approach to change, the council will 
implement any changes in an inclusive manner, ensuring all staff and Members are 
part of the change process.

Page 34



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 5 | P a g e

2. Change Activities – Content, Process and People

Content

2.1 The council’s Change Activities are made up of several strands of work:
2.1.1 Review of specific processes and ways in which the council currently operates 

in order to identify service efficiencies and potential improvements for the 
customer and officers of the council.

2.1.2 Implementation of budget saving initiatives as identified by council officers 
and, where required, endorsed by Cabinet.

2.1.3 Exploration and implementation of shared working arrangements where it is 
suitable to do so.

2.1.4 Expansion and implementation of commercial initiatives identified.

2.1.5 The work of the Digital Team in promoting the use of technology as a means 
of interacting and communicating with our customers.

2.2 Review of specific processes

2.2.1 This work stream will be driven by the council’s Management Team and 
Members through identification of areas of council services that may benefit 
from a review of the way in which the service is being delivers.  This will focus 
on the internal processes undertaken by officers but will also include the 
customer aspect in terms of how the customer receives and access the 
services.

2.2.2 In each case, a fundamental review of service delivery, specific to the relevant 
process, will take place.  This will involve a ‘start to finish’ approach, looking at 
the way in which the council currently delivers services, identifying what isn’t 
working or where efficiencies can be made and then implementing these 
changes.

2.2.3 Any changes that have been identified that require a fundamental change to 
the service will be agreed not only by the council’s Management Team but 
with the council’s Cabinet as required.

2.3 Implementation of budget saving initiatives 

2.3.1 Both Members and officers are continually reviewing the council’s services in 
order to identify potential budget saving and/or income generation initiatives.  
Most recent, in 2018, the council’s Cabinet approved a suite of initiatives, 
totalling just under £1.3m which are in the process of being delivered.

2.3.2 In addition, there are a number of options from the previous Service Review 
Process which are in the process if being implemented which will drive 
changes to the way in which the council operates.

Page 35



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 6 | P a g e

2.4 Exploration and implementation of shared working arrangements

2.4.1 The council has taken a very pragmatic approach to the implementation of 
shared services.  There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach and as such, potential 
shared service arrangements have always been considered when an 
appropriate opportunity has arisen and where the benefits to both authorities 
outweigh any potential negative impacts.  The driver for shared services is not 
necessarily financial; added resilience, experience and knowledge are also 
key factors in deciding if the council should pursue shared working 
arrangements.

2.4.2 The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 2019 sets out the process 
for exploring shared working opportunities in more detail, ensuring 
engagement with key officers and Members at all stages of the process.

2.5 Expansion and implementation of commercial initiatives identified

2.5.1 The council has a clear ambition to become an entrepreneurial local authority; 
putting in place a package of new ways of working in order to implement a 
commercial culture to finance the council’s expanded frontline offer and a 
social return on investment. 

2.5.2 Specifically, this includes the formation of a local authority trading company 
and the council is actively pursuing the formation of a company in order to 
deliver services to the public.  Services to be delivered will be in the areas of 
vehicle works, private housing delivery and repairs and maintenance.

2.5.3 Delivering services to the public present a number of challenges for the 
council and specifically changes to the way that both officers and Members 
undertake their roles.  Therefore this is a key aspect of the council’s overall 
Change Strategy.

2.6 The work of the Digital Team

2.6.1 The council’s Digital Strategy sets out the way in which the council aims to 
expand the service delivery options by providing and encouraging customers 
to use the most convenient and cost-effective digital contact channels, where 
appropriate.

2.6.2 Making the most of the technology available to the council and driving 
customers towards self-help and alternative means of communication will 
support the council in becoming more efficient both in terms of service 
delivery and financial viability.

2.6.3 Transform how we deliver digital services, working in agile teams capable of 
redesigning services end-to-end, ensuring that our user’s needs are 
considered and met throughout the whole process.

Page 36



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 7 | P a g e

2.6.4 Supporting our staff to work more efficiently by providing them with the 
necessary tools and digital skills, helping them to deliver excellent service to 
our residents as efficiently as possible and freeing up more of their time for 
frontline services.

Process

2.7 All change activities will be discussed and agreed with the council’s Management 
Team and where applicable, Members, prior to commencement.  This will ensure that 
the following aspects of any change activities are agreed at a senior management 
level:
2.7.1 Sponsor – identification of who the lead officer at a senior management level 

is to ensure regular project reporting and support.

2.7.2 Scope – the scope of any change activity will be agreed to ensure that all 
officers involved are clear on the service elements and/or processes that are 
due to be reviewed/changed.

2.7.3 Timeframe – a realistic timeframe for the change activity will be agreed. This 
will ensure again, that all officers involved know the deadline they are working 
to in terms of undertaking reviews and/or implementing changes required.

2.7.4 Project Team – identifying who will form part of the team to undertake the 
review and implement change.  These officers will be led by the Corporate 
Change Manager (as required) and will be from the relevant service, although 
it is also likely that a ‘critical friend’ from an independent service area will also 
be involved where appropriate.  Officer time will be freed up to ensure they 
are able to commit to the review whilst it is underway.

2.7.5 Decision-making process – clarification on the process for making decisions 
about the changes to be made.  This will be dependent on the nature of the 
change that is required and whether or not it has previously been identified 
through previous reporting processes.

2.7.6 Communication – agreement on how the process/review will be 
communicated to officers directly affected by the process as well as the wider 
council community.  Again, the method used may be dependent on the nature 
of the review or change that is being implemented.

2.8 The above is a summary of the types of activities that will need to be considered 
once change activities have been identified.  Other specific details will be confirmed 
with the Corporate Change Manager as required and all change activities will be 
underpinned with a detailed project plan to enable proper monitoring of progress of 
the project.

Page 37



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 8 | P a g e

People

2.9 The most critical part of the Change Strategy and its associated activities is People.  
All people react differently to change and it is therefore important that officers are 
supported through any changes that are made.

2.10 Typically, people go through four stages of change and these are most commonly 
depicted in The Change Curve (figure 1)’:

Figure 1 – The Change Curve

2.11 Understanding the various ways that people react to change, helps in minimising the 
potential negative impact the change could have and can help people adapt to it 
more quickly.  Identifying where people are along this spectrum will enable any 
change activities to be managed and progressed effectively.

2.12 The Corporate Change Team will have a key role to play in working with people 
through the transitional period to ensure the change is managed and implemented 
effectively and will be supported by the council’s HR team throughout the process.

2.13 In ensuring that communication with all those involved is conducted effectively, the 
following will take place:
2.13.1 Identification of service stakeholders i.e. those who will be affected by the 

changes.  This will focus not only on internal officers but others who may not 
necessarily need to be involved in the specific review, but will need to be 
informed of any changes taking place.

2.13.2 Early interaction with service stakeholders to ensure that they fully understand 
the case for change (why this is happening) and the vision (where making the 
change will take us).

Page 38



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 9 | P a g e

2.13.3 Officers who will be involved in the actual review process (as detailed under 
the ‘Process’ stage above).  The implementation of reviews or change 
activities will be undertaken with the officers who will be affected by the 
change.

2.14 The service stakeholders will be a fundamental element of all change activities; it is 
recognised that without them change will be very difficult to implement and as such, 
they will be kept up-to-date on progress throughout the process.

Page 39



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 10 | P a g e

3. Stakeholder Engagement

Elected Members

3.1 The council’s Members will play a fundamental role in ensuring that the council works 
towards meeting the budget gap set out in the introduction of this strategy.  

3.2 From a consultative point of view, Members will be an invaluable source of 
information both in terms of their own personal opinions and experience, but also 
those of the constituents they represent.  As required, Members will be invited to be 
involved in change activities and provide their input into the process.

3.3 Cabinet Members will be tasked with making decisions about council services moving 
forward.  Cabinet Members will need to review any the potential savings change 
activities may generate and balance this with the financial position of the council and 
the impact on the customer and decide the best course of action.  There will 
undoubtedly be tough decisions for both officers and Members moving forward.

Trade Union

3.4 Where any changes that are taking place impact on officers of the council, the Trade 
Union Branch Secretary will be kept up-to-date with the implications of any changes 
and will be consulted as required.

3.5 The council will endeavour to identify redeployment opportunities for staff where it is 
appropriate to do so and will fulfil any statutory consultations that are required as a 
result of any suggested changes that impact on staff.

Page 40



C h a n g e  S t r a t e g y  2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 3 11 | P a g e

4. Measuring Success

4.1 Success is measured in different ways, depending on the change that is being made 
and the service or process involved.

4.2 At the start of each review of change activity, a set of measures will be agreed with 
the relevant Director and responsible manager in order to be able to determine if the 
change has been a success.  These measures will cover the following:
4.1.1 Service performance – measuring how the change has impacted on overall 

performance of the service/process.

4.1.2 Financial performance – measuring how the change has impacted on the 
costs of the service/process.

4.2 These measures of success will be agreed and reported to Management Team as 
part of the Performance Management Framework of the council.

4.3 Ultimately, the success of implementing the changes activities set out within this 
Strategy will result in the overall delivery of the objectives set out within the council’s 
Corporate Plan 2019-23.  Updates against these objectives will be reported to 
Cabinet Members on a regular basis.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	5 Corporate Performance Management Framework: 2019-23
	Appendix 2 - Corporate PMF (2019-23).pdf

	6 Change Strategy 2019-2023
	Appendix Two - Draft Change Strategy Document




